
LANDS OWNED BY THE PRIORY OF BEDDGERLERT:

A Summary

In 1536 when the priory of Beddgelert was granted to Cherstey Abbey, un-named lands  in numerous parishes are recorded as belonging to the priory. After the dissolution in 1538 of Bisham Abbey, of which Cherstey Abbey and Beddgelert priory were then a part, all these lands reverted to the Crown and, in 1541, became part of the divorce settlement  received by Anne of Cleves.  Later they again reverted to the Crown, which sold the former Beddgelert priory lands in the 1570s, and they eventually came into the hands of various local Welsh gentry families. The details of many of the estates are available in the local archive offices or from the authors.

1. IN BEDDGELERT PARISH

i) THE  PRIORY  DESMESNE
Approx. National Grid Reference SH 590480

The lands immediately surrounding and to the south west of the priory church and conventual’s buildings had been extended by a grant from prince Llewelyn the Last in 1268. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. They were sold by the Crown in 1573, and by 1585 had been purchased by John Wynn Morys, a younger brother of the Clenennau family. The holding became the nucleus of a Welsh family estate owning the west part of the later Beddgelert village, and was sold in 1876. 

ii) THE  PRIOR’S  LAND

Approx. NGR SH 560510 -585475

This land extended north along the west bank of Afon Colwyn and Afon Cwm Du and then up to and along the watershed of Moel Hebog and its outliers, finally returning down the watershed to the Afon Glaslyn by the old Aberglaslyn bridge, upstream of the present bridge. It had been granted to the priory in 1268 by Llewelyn the Last. The last prior had leased out much of the land in the early 1500s. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. Crown leases survive from 1573, and gradually the constituent farms - Cwmcloch, Meillionen, Hafod Ruffydd and Cader yr Ychen - were acquired by different estates, each with its own history.

2. IN  LLANFIHANGEL  Y  PENNANT  PARISH.

i) YMWLCH 



Approx. NGR SH 512415

It is not known when in the thirteenth century this land, situated south east of Dolbenmaen church, in a detached portion of the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant,  was granted to the priory. It was taken from the priory in 1268, in return for the Prior’s land in the charter of prince Llewelyn the Last, and therefore no longer formed part of the history of the priory.

ii) PENNANT GWERNORGAN

Some lands in Pennant Gwernorgan, which has not been identified,  had been granted to the priory by prince Dafydd ap Llewelyn (1240-1246). Apparently these lands belonged to Tudur ap Madoc, to which the prince had no right; this occasioned a suit in 1289 between the sons of Tudur and Philip, Prior of the House, at Caernarvon, when a verdict was given against the convent. The holding therefore ceased to belong to the priory of Beddgelert.

iii) LLECHEIDIOR


Approx. NGR SH 470440

It is not known when the holdings in this detached portion of the township of Pennant and parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant was granted to the priory. A grange in Llecheidior and Pennant is listed in the 1292 Taxation of Pope Nicholas IV.

In 1512 Rhys ap Ieuan of Hendre Cenin received a lease from David Conway, the last Prior of Beddgelert, of certain lands belonging to the priory in the parish of Llanfihangell y Pennant. These lands were Bwlch Gwyn and Pant Ddreiniog in Cenin Fynydd, lying at the southern end of the hill above and adjoining Hendre Cenin.  

In 1552  his grandson, aged 13 years, Lewis ap Ieuan ap Rhys's guardian was involved in a case before the Court of Augmentations over the lease which still had 40 years left to run. The Crown therefore honoured the lease, probably till its expiry in 1592. In 1631 both holdings were bond land, neither belonging to Lewis' descendents. The

iv) LAND  OF  CYNNDDELW  LLWYD  OF  PENNANT 
Prior to 1240 Llewelyn Fawr granted to Beddgelert  'all the land of Cynddelw Llwyd of Pennant'. This was probably land in the large free township of Pennant in Eifionydd, where the priory was situated in its easternmost corner. Several small pieces of lands in Pennant belonged to the priory at its dissolution, but the location of this holding has not been identified.

v) LANDS  IN  PENNANT

This land was granted to the priory by the Lord David, probably Dafydd ap Llewelyn who ruled Gwynedd (1240-46), but possibly by prince Dafydd ap Gruffydd (1256-74).

1) lands of Adoer in Pennant:

2) lands of Tegwared fab Gwair of Pennant: Gwely Gwair, one of the free gwely listed in the Record of Caernarfon in 1352 for the township of Pennant with hamlet of Llecheiddior, was named after Gair. Tegwared fab Gwair may have been his son, and that some of their lands may have been in Cwm Ystradllyn, where the priory holdings were situated. 

3) which they had of Iorwerth fab yr Offeiriad and 

4) Scornal in Pennant .

Two of these four (or the above grant of Cynddelw Llwyd)  were later known as the farms of Tir y Prior, later Traian in Cwm Ystradllyn, and Maes y llech in Pennant. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. 

TRAIAN: 



Approx. NGR SH 546440

The lease on this land, known as Tir y Prior, was inherited about 1525 by Robert ap Einion from his uncle Meredudd. The land became crown land under the statute for the dissolution of the monasteries, but the Crown continued to honour the lease in force by grant of the last prior. Around 1570 Robert's grandson, Hugh ap John ap Robert married a daughter of Richard ap Elise, of Clenennau, who was the tenant of Tir y Prior. In 1573 Tir y Prior, named as Braich y Bib, and held by Richard ap Elise, was sold by the Crown to Lord Cheney, who passed it on to John Salisbury. He sold it in 1575 to Cadwaladr ap Meredudd of Y Wenallt in Nanhwynain. In 1582 Hugh ap John ap Robert succeeded in completing the consolidation of his lands around Braich y Bib by the purchase of Tir y Prior from Cadwaladr’s son, Thomas ap Cadwaladr of Glasfryn Fawr. Later the Braich y Bib family married into the Trefan family whose members became the impropriators of Beddgelert church.

MAES Y LLECH:


Approx. NGR SH 563427

At an early period a part of the lands north of Llyn Du had become escheat and fallen into the hands of the princes of Wales; by one of them it was given to the religious community at Beddgelert. When parishes and townships were laid out  in the twelfth century this land belonging to the monks was made into a detached portion of the parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant and the township of Pennant, in which district the rest of their land lay, and it had the general name of Maes y llech. In 1536, when the monastic land was taken by the Crown, Elise's son Moris, was tenant of Maes y llech by a lease from the Prior of Beddgelert. In 1573 Morus ap Elissa was still the tenant. The holding is again mentioned in 1614.

About 1574 it was bought by William Maurice's brother, John Wyn, who entailed it under the names of Llaeth Fynydd and Yr Ynys Ddreiniog. Later it was sold to Clenennau with the exception of a small part near the lake, afterwards called Cae Tindew, which went to the Brynkir estate. Clenennau rearranged the boundaries to make the modern farms of Ereiniog, Ynys Wen, Caeau Gwynion and Maes y llech. 

3. IN ABERERCH PARISH
Approx. NGR SH 394364

It is not known when the land holding, now called Prior, situated to the west of the church was granted to the priory. It is named in the 1291 Taxation of Pope Nicolas IV when the produce from bees - honey and wax for candles - is valued. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding is named as Tyddyn y Meirch - the Horses’ farm; the tenant was Margaret Conway, widow and the rent was 5s 4d. In the sale in 1575 the holding was called Tyddyn y wenith - the wheat farm. These names may echo the uses to which the land was put. By 1596 in a post-nuptual settlement it is called Tyddyn y Prior, possibly as a recognition of its former status. In the early 1600s it was bought by Humffrey Jones of Craflwyn, Beddgelert, later the Receiver General of North Wales. His descendants sold the farm in 1773 and it then became part of the local Broom Hall estate.

4. IN DOLWYDDELAN PARISH
Approx. NGR SH 735523

In 1268 prince Llewelyn the Last exchanged some lands of the priory when granting new lands nearer the priory. Amongst land returned to the prince was “all the lands of their church at Dolwyddelan beyond the ditch of the meadow land near the said township”. It is nor known where these lands were situated.

In 1352 Gafael y mynach was part of the township and presumably its name - the monks’ holding - infers that this was the land remaining with the priory. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding is unnamed, but the tenant, Morus Wynn, was of the Gwydir family. In 1617 the land formerly that of the prior was amongst the freehold land recorded on a rent-roll by Sir John Wynn of Gwydir. However its location has not yet been identified.

5. IN LLANFAIR IS GAER PARISH


It is not known when land within Llanfair is gaer parish was granted to the priory. Due to its distance from the priory it may have provided for the immediate needs of the priests living there and serving that parish. It may also have been a place where those waiting to cross the Menai to the priory lands there could wait for a ferry and appropriate tides. In 1536 un-named lands are recorded as belonging to the prior. In the 1573 sale by the Crown of the priory lands this holding of two acres is unnamed, but the tenant, Morus Wynn, was of the Gwydir family. The Wynn family leased and owned lands in the parish, including Crug and Plas Llanfair. The location of this holding has not yet been positively identified, but within the Plas Llanfair land, the 1839 Tithe map names the field north-east of the church as Church field. This may be merely due to its proximity, but could echo the earlier ownership of the holding.

6. IN LLANIDAN PARISH

Approx. NGR SH 465665 and 465717

In Anglesey the priory held the township of Tre'r-beirdd and the hamlet of Berw Isaf in Menai. This was probably granted between 1246-1255 by prince Owain Gruffydd, the brother of prince Llewelyn ap Gruffydd. 

In 1360 a lease of priory land  is made using  descriptions and boundaries which have not yet been interpreted within the present landscape. One area in the township of Berw was leased by an ancestor of the Plas Berw family and mentions Ynys y Meirch on the lowlands of Corsdygay, now called Malltraeth.

Another area in the township/hamlet of Tre’r Beirdd mentioned in 1360 was  near Trefarthen, which is still a major farm. 1n 1372 a separate lease in the same area names the neighbours, but again this holding currently defies identification. In 1438 un-named lands in the township of Llannaden are noted as being held by the Prior of Beddgelert. In 1535 the valuable glebe land associated with Lanidan church was recorded, and again after the Dissolution of the priory un-named vills and fields are noted in 1536, 1573 and 1582. In 1575 two tenements called Tythyn Adda ap David and Tythyn y Prior in the township of Tre’r beirdd were sold to Roland Meredydd of Bodowyr, Anglesey. In 1614 eleven farms and nine holdings are named in the township, but of these only Tyddyn y Prior and Tyddyn Adda have so far been correlated with modern farm names. Local Welsh gentry purchased the remaining priory lands; the later history is still being unravelled.

FARMS PURCHASED WITH QUEEN ANNE BOUNTY.

1. UCHELDREF UCHAF in the parish of Llanfflewin, Anglesey. NGR SH 349875

The southern part of this 130 acre farm was purchased in 1764 with a £400 grant, £200 being granted in both 1740 and 1757, from the Governors of the Bounty of Queen Anne, for the augmentation of the maintenance of the poor clergy. In 1808 the rent of £50 p.a. augmented the salary of the curate of Beddgelert. The annual rent was £52-10-0 in the depression of 1821, but was £60 by 1849. In 1879 repair work was undertaken; the rent was then £70 p.a. Further repairs were made in 1898. The date of sale after the 1920 disestablishment of the Church in Wales is not known.

2. LLWYN BEDW UCHAF in the parish of Clynnog. 

NGR SH 457503

This farm of over 28 acres was purchased in 1814 with a £400 grant, £200 being granted in both 1787 and 1790, from the Governors of the Bounty of Queen Anne, for the augmentation of the maintenance of the poor clergy. In 1817 the rent of £18 p.a. augmented the salary of the curate of Beddgelert. This rent fell to £13 in 1821 due to the low state of the market. In 1843 seven acres of mountain land were allotted to the farm as part of the Clynnog Enclosure Award. In 1849 and 1879 the rent was £15 p.a. Repair work was undertaken in 1879 and in 1898. Following the 1920 disestablishment of the Church in Wales, Llwynbedw uchaf was sold in 1922 for £800 to John Griffith Jones, Glanrafon House, Trevor. Owen Jones was the yearly tenant.
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